



Emergency Medical Science Program

EMS Student Policy Handbook 2018-2019

(Updated 8-15-2018)



E.M.T. OATH

Be it pledged as an Emergency Medical Technician, I will honor the physical and judicial laws of God and man. I will follow that regimen which, according to my ability and judgment, I consider for the benefit of patients and abstain from whatever is deleterious and mischievous, nor shall I suggest any such counsel.

Into whatever houses I enter, I will go into them for the benefit of only the sick and injured, never revealing what I see or hear in the lives of men unless required by law. I shall also share my medical knowledge with those who may benefit from what I have learned.

I will serve unselfishly and continuously in order to help make a better world for all mankind. While I continue to keep this oath unviolated, may it be granted to me to enjoy life, and the practice of the art, respected by all men, in all times. Should I trespass or violate this oath, may the reverse be my lot. So help me God.

Adopted by the National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians 1978



Table of Contents:

Section 1: Introduction

Message to the Student	6
Non-discrimination Statement	6
Technical Standards (Essential Functions)	7
Mission of the Institution	7
Mission of the Program	8
Program Outcomes (Goals)	8
EMS Program Descriptions	9
Qualifications for Applicants	10
Course Schedules	10
Program Completion Requirements	11
Disability and Criminal History Evaluation	11
Texas Certification/National Registry Examinations	11
Institutional Accreditation	12
Program Accreditation	12
Certification Requirements	12
Course Fees	
Student Records	13
Student Work Policy	13
Behavioral Conduct	13
Code of Conduct	
Academic & Clinical Dishonesty	
Classroom Conduct	16
Attendance	
Clinical Attendance	
Assistance	
Communicating with Instructors	
Professional Ethics/Confidentiality	
Disciplinary Action	
Student Conferences	
Student Status	
Liability Insurance	
Grievance Policy	
Probation Policy	
EMS Student Classroom and Lab	
Laboratory and Tutoring	
Immunizations and Vaccinations	
Infection Control	21

Section 2: Curriculum

EMS Course Requirements	25
Dismissal/Withdrawal/Readmission Policy	26
General Academic Courses	27
EMS Course Descriptions	27
Course Substitution	29



Transfer of Credit from other Institutions	
Failure of EMSP Courses	30
Service Learning	
Skills Proficiency Verification	
Course Policies and Procedures	35
Rights and Responsibilities	36

Section 3: Resources

Counseling Services	
Advising	
Disability Services	
Financial Aid	36
Library	37
Learning Assistance Center	
Professional Organizations	
Curriculum Review Attestation	38



Emergency Medical Science Program Helpful Phone Numbers

EMS Faculty - Program Director	EMS Faculty - Clinical Coordinator
Scott Nelson, B.S., NRP, LP	Gilbert Alcala, AAS, LP, ACOR
Office: (956) 295-3511	Office: (956) 295-3727
Email: scott.nelson@tsc.edu	Email: gilbert.alcala@tsc.edu
Office Location: ITEC H3A-231	Office Location: ITEC H3A-204
EMS Faculty	EMS Faculty- Adjunct Instructors
Hector Martinez, AAS, LP, ACOR	David Garza, AAS, LP- Adjunct Instructor
Office: (956) 295-3599	Cell phone: 956-371-6439
Email: hector.martinez@tsc.edu	Email: david.garza@tsc.edu
Office Location: ITEC H3A-233	Office Location: ITEC H3A
Program Administrative Assistant	Dean of Health Professions
Janet Hernandez	Scott Nelson (Acting Dean)
Office: (956) 295-3731	Office (956) 295-3753
Email: janet.hernandez@tsc.edu	Email: scott.nelson@tsc.edu
Office Location: ITEC H3A	Office Location: ITEC E-102
EMS Medical Director:	
Lorenzo Pelly, MD	
	EMS Program Website
	http://tsc.edu/ems



Section 1: Introduction

A Message to the Students

Welcome to the Texas Southmost College Emergency Medical Science Program.

This handbook has been compiled to help familiarize you with the policies utilized by this program as well as available student services.

The <u>Emergency Medical Science Program Student Handbook</u> pertains to students that have been admitted to that program and is a supplement to the Texas Southmost College (TSC) Student Handbook. The Vice-President of Instruction and Student Services is the chief administrator for academic/non-academic policies and procedures.

It is through the spirit of cooperation and communication that students and faculty members share a common goal of learning. In this profession, competence is developed through diligence, determination, and patience in the clinical environment as well as the classroom.

The Degree Plan for Emergency Medical Science has been designed to provide the student with a well-rounded curriculum that incorporates Emergency Medical Science classes as well as preparing the student academically to continue their education.

Please remember that you, the student, are the most important asset of this program. Your suggestions are welcomed, appreciated, and may be submitted at any time to the Advisory Committee of this program or directly to the Program Faculty.

Non-Discrimination Statement

Texas Southmost College Emergency Medical Science Program is non-discriminatory in regard to race, creed, color, sex, age, handicap, and national origin.

Texas Southmost College Emergency Medical Science Program further delineates Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended:

No otherwise qualified handicapped individual in the United States as defined in Section 7(6), shall, solely by reason of his handicap be excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be subject to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal assistance.



Technical Standards (Essential Functions)

An Emergency Medical Science student must possess motor and visual skills that would enable him/her to meet program objectives and perform job duties required in the profession. Specifically, the students:

- 1. Have the ability to communicate effectively and sensitively in order to assess communication and be able to adequately transmit information to the patient and to members of the health care team.
- 2. Possess all the skills necessary to safely and accurately perform all emergency procedures and manipulate equipment.
- 3. Have the ability to lift and move immobile and physically challenged patients.
- 4. Have the ability to stand or sit for long periods of time.
- 5. Possess the emotional health required for full utilization of his or her intellectual abilities.
- 6. Have the ability to recognize emergency situations and take appropriate action.

Mission of the Institution

The mission of Texas Southmost College (TSC) is to transform our communities through innovative learning opportunities.

Role and Scope

Texas Southmost College's mission is guided by our commitment to provide:

- University transfer, career, and technical programs leading to an associate degree or certificate along with courses specializing in college preparatory and developmental education, workforce training, adult literacy, and continuing education to support the evolving needs of citizens, industry, and economic development initiatives within Cameron and Willacy Counties.
- High-quality instruction and learning opportunities in the classroom, online, and through other delivery methods; a supportive and innovative faculty and staff; appropriate technology, equipment, and learning resources; and advising and assessment services to promote transfer to a four-year baccalaureate institution, entry or advancement in the workforce, or lifelong learning.
- A learning-centered, service-oriented environment that celebrates diversity and inclusion; facilitates growth and development; fosters social responsibility, critical thinking, communication, and innovation; and empowers and engages students, faculty and staff to achieve personal and professional goals.



• Institutional effectiveness that embraces individual accountability, data-driven decision making, change, and an unending pursuit of excellence.

Mission of the Program

Consistent with the mission of Texas Southmost College the faculty of the Emergency Medical Science program is committed to provide high quality, accessible and affordable Emergency Medical Technician and Paramedic education tailored to meet the needs of the community.

Philosophy

Consistent with the college's values, the Emergency Medical Science program is dedicated to integrity, access, service, excellence, innovation, and success.

Program Outcomes (Goals)

The overarching goal of the TSC EMS Program is "To prepare competent entry-level Emergency Medical Technician-Paramedics in the cognitive (knowledge), psychomotor (skills), and affective (behavior) learning domains," with or without exit points at the Emergency Medical Technician-Intermediate, and/or Emergency Medical Technician-Basic, and/or First Responder levels."

- **Goal 1** Upon completion of the program, all students will demonstrate the ability to comprehend, apply, and evaluate information relevant to their role as an Emergency Medical Technician/ Paramedic. (Cognitive Domain)
- **Goal 2** Upon completion of the program, all students will demonstrate technical proficiency in all competencies necessary to fulfill the role of an Emergency Medical Technician/ Paramedic. (Psychomotor Domain)
- **Goal 3** Upon completion of the program, all students will demonstrate personal behaviors consistent with professional and employer expectations for an Emergency Medical Technician. (Affective Domain)
- **Goal 4** Upon completion of the program, a minimum of 85% of the graduates will be successful on the National Certification Examination.
- **Goal 5** Six months post-graduation 85% of the graduates will be employed as Emergency Medical Technicians.
- **Goal 6** Upon graduation and employment, 85% of the employers and graduates will report average or better in entry level skills in Emergency Medical Science.



EMS Program Description

In the early 1990's, it was recognized that national trends in EMS education were leaning towards higher-level education and the expansion of paramedic program content areas. For this reason, the move from Adult Continuing Education Paramedic training programs to a college based EMS education program seemed to be a logical choice.

Attaining an Associate of Applied Science (AAS) will allow Students to:

- 1. Obtain a broadened level of paramedic education consistent with national EMS education trends as well as proposed national curriculum.
- 2. Attain Texas paramedic licensure upon successful completion of the AAS degree program and Texas Department of State Health Services licensure requirements.
- 3. Pursue paramedic certification at a cost less than previously required as a result of resources available at the College level.

The TSC Emergency Medical Technician (EMT) program prepares the Student to apply for and successfully pass the National Registry of EMT's (NREMT) EMT written and psychomotor exam and then apply for, and successfully complete, Texas Department of State Health Services (TX DSHS) EMT certification. Students who successfully complete the EMT course are encouraged to consider continuing their education in the Paramedic program.

TSC's Paramedic program allows "new" EMS Students to pursue paramedic certification while obtaining an Associate in Applied Science (AAS) degree. Additionally, this program allows previously trained paramedics to continue their education in order to attain the AAS degree.

EMT and Paramedic courses at the Texas Southmost College are conducted at the ITEC campus. The first semester is the EMT Program, which is followed by the Paramedic program, which includes the AAS courses of study. Labs are designed to promote the learning and application of clinical skills. Clinical rotations are also required as part of the EMT and Paramedic courses. These rotations provide exceptional opportunities for Students to learn and apply clinical skills in the hospital and pre-hospital environments.

Full-time Faculty maintain regular office hours; however, Students are strongly encouraged to arrange an appointment. Part- time Faculty are available by appointment only. Students are also encouraged to utilize the EMS Program Faculty's web site to obtain current program information.



Qualifications for Applicants

Students are selected for the program after meeting minimum criteria. To qualify for admission the applicant must complete the following:

- 1) Be admitted to or complete an application to Texas Southmost College.
- 2) Submit a completed Allied Health Application for Admission
 - a) Submit transcripts from any colleges attended
 - b) Submit high school transcripts
 - c) Submit scores from the TSI/TASP/THEA test
 - d) Two letters of personal reference

Note: Up-to-date immunizations, drug test, and Criminal Background Check are required of all Student's prior to any clinical assignments. Students receive information about these during mandatory orientation.

Preprogram Courses:

(Suggested that they be taken before entering program, but can be taking concurrently):

BIOL	2301	Human Anatomy & Physiology I
BIOL	2302	Human Anatomy & Physiology II
ENGL	1301	Composition I
MATH	1332	Contemporary Mathematics
PSYC	2301	General Psychology
SPCH	1318	Interpersonal Communication OR
SPCH	1315	Public Speaking
XXXX	X3XX	Language, Philosophy & Culture/ Creative Arts Elective

Preference will be given to applicants who have completed (with grade of C or better) Human Anatomy and Physiology (BIOL 2301, BIOL 2302) at the time of application.

If any further information is needed, please contact the Emergency Medical Science Program Director at (956) 295-3511.

Course Schedules

At the beginning of each semester, Students are provided with a course syllabus. The syllabus includes a schedule of classes, exams, special projects, and assigned reading. Because a tremendous amount of information is discussed in all courses, Students must come to class prepared to discuss and expand upon assigned reading material. The information included in the syllabus will allow the Student to come to class prepared thereby enhancing learning. Should changes to the syllabus be necessary, instructors will inform Students of the changes as soon as is possible. Additional class meeting days, when applicable, are identified in the syllabus.



Program Completion Requirements

EMS Program (EMSP) students are provided with course completion requirements at the beginning of each course. **Students must meet all academic and clinical course requirements in order to successfully complete the course.** Successful completion (e.g. all course requirements are met) of each course is required in order for the Student to proceed to the next EMSP course and to complete the specific program. Specific grading policies for EMSP courses are discussed in the Course Policies and Procedures section of this handbook. In order to be eligible to take the NREMT certification exam at any level, the student must receive approval from the Course Coordinator, Program Director and Medical Director. Completion of the paramedic program also requires the unanimous approval of the Clinical Coordinator, Program Director, and the Medical Director. Clinical rotations must also be successfully completed including submittal of the required documentation prior to established deadlines. Most importantly, the Student must have successfully demonstrated competency in all required clinical content areas. Oral examinations and other required assignments must also be successfully completed in order to continue in the paramedic program.

Disability and Criminal History Evaluation

For the most updated and detailed information please visit the following websites:

Texas Department of State Health Services RULE §157.37 Certification or Licensure of Persons with Criminal Backgrounds http://www.dshs.state.tx.us/emstraumasystems/default.shtm

National Registry of Emergency Medical Technicians http://www.nremt.org/about/nremt_news.asp

If any further clarification is needed please feel free to contact the EMS Program Director for assistance.

Texas Certification/National Registry Examinations

For the most updated and detailed information please visit the following websites:

Texas Department of State Health Services http://www.dshs.state.tx.us/emstraumasystems/default.shtm

National Registry of Emergency Medical Technicians http://www.nremt.org/about/nremt_news.asp

If any further clarification is needed please feel free to contact the EMS Program Director for assistance.



Institutional Accreditation

Texas Southmost College is accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges to award certificate and associate degrees. TSC course offerings are approved by the Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board, Texas College and University System, and the Texas Education Agency.

Program Accreditation

The Texas Southmost College EMS Program is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs (www.caahep.org) upon the recommendation of the Committee on Accreditation of Educational Programs for the Emergency Medical Services Professions (CoAEMSP).

To contact:

Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education Programs 25400 U.S. Highway 19 North, Suite 158 Clearwater, FL 33763 www.caahep.org

Committee on Accreditation of Educational Programs for the Emergency Medical Services Professions

8301 Lakeview Parkway, Suite 111-312 Rowlett TX 75088 (214) 703-8445 FAX (214) 703-8992 www.coaemsp.org

Certification Requirements

This course deals with medical techniques, which cannot only be lifesaving, but if improperly used, absolutely fatal. It is imperative that individuals certified in these techniques demonstrate sound, mature judgment under pressure. Therefore, students will not be allowed to sit for a National Registry Exam without the approval of the Course Coordinator and Program Director. Students who successfully complete courses offered by the TSC EMS Program are eligible to apply to take the National exams at the appropriate level.

For students who may need accommodations for disability, the TX DSHS EMS Division and the NREMT have established eligibility for disability accommodations on a case-by-case basis.



The nature of the EMS profession requires that restrictions be placed by TX DSHS and NREMT on Certification of persons with criminal histories and some physical limitations. The Bureau of Emergency Management (TDSHS) and the National Registry of EMT's (NREMT) review applicants on a case-by-case basis. Questions regarding certification of applicants with criminal histories or disabilities should be directed to the Bureau of Emergency Management (TDSHS) and the National Registry of EMT's. Certification requirements, procedures and fees vary from state to state. It is the responsibility of a student who is coming from another state or wishes to practice in another state to contact the appropriate agency regarding certification or reciprocity procedures.

Course Fees

Please refer to the current schedule of fees as presented by the Office of the Registrar.

Student Records

The current EMSP Student records are maintained in the EMS Program file room in accordance with Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) guidelines. These files include student personal information, admission documentation, application, transcripts, certification history, clinical/ practicum and classroom education data. These documents are secured and may be reviewed by making arrangements outside of class time with the EMS Program Director.

Student Work Policy

As in all Health Professions Programs at TSC, working full-time while enrolled in a program is difficult and not recommended because work schedules can conflict with class and or/practicum rotations. Students in this program will not be substituted for regular staff even though they may be competent in certain aspects of emergency medicine. Should a student be employed in any facility or agency that is an affiliate of the program, they may do so only during times where it does not involve or conflict with program activities. Additionally, should a student be employed by a facility or agency where practicum rotation is normally conducted, they may not use "employer time" to substitute for program practicum requirements.

Behavioral Conduct

TSC EMS students representing Texas Southmost College will be expected to conduct themselves in such a manner as to reflect favorably upon themselves and the program. Every effort is taken to provide for all students an academic environment that is conducive to academic endeavors, social growth, and individual self-discipline. The College assumes that students eligible to perform at the College level are familiar with the ordinary rules governing proper conduct and that they will observe these rules as a matter of training and habit (See TSC Student Handbook Discipline Code/Sanctions. The most up-to-date student handbook may be found here http://tsc.edu/index.php/current-students/student-handbook.html).



Dress Code

The EMS Program requires the neat and uniform appearance of all students during clinical education. EMS Program faculty and preceptors may dismiss students from the clinical site at their discretion for appearance outside the requirements of this dress code. Violations of this dress code will result in disciplinary action.

<u>Uniform</u>

- Dark blue EMS pants or BDUs
- Black boots or closed-toe shoes with appropriate ankle support
- Black belt
- EMS Program approved polo uniform shirt
- Student identification, clearly displayed
- Optional: Plain turtleneck, vest or jacket of coordinating color, without identifying writing
- Optional: FOR FIELD CLINICAL ONLY- baseball cap of coordinating color with no logos or printing

<u>Equipment</u>

- Watch with second hand
- Pen
- Stethoscope
- Penlight
- EMS shears
- Protective eye wear (must meet OSHA standard)

Grooming

- Clean body with no noticeable odors.
- Hair, must be clean and neatly groomed. Long hair must be tied back.
- No facial hair is allowed in the classroom or clinical setting.
- No strong perfumes or colognes.
- No excessive jewelry. Facial jewelry may not be worn. While earrings are not considered facial jewelry, only one small stud-type earing may be worn on each ear. Earrings that hang are not allowed.
- Clean, well fitting, uniform.
- Clean footwear.
- If the student has tattoo(s) that are visible outside of their uniform, a covering must be worn to hide the tattoo(s).
- Baseball caps or hats are not allowed in the classroom or hospital clinical setting
- REQUIRED FOR FIELD CLINICALS: wear high visibility vest during calls
- NO EMS/other pins or badges are allowed on uniform.

Code of Conduct

As EMS providers strive to improve professional status, it is incumbent upon each provider to demonstrate the qualities of a "true professional". EMS Students are equally vital to this effort



as they are frequently exposed to and evaluated by patients and other healthcare providers. The attitude, appearance and performance of EMS Students directly impact the impressions others have of the EMS profession as a whole. Students who develop habits, skills, knowledge and abilities consistent with a professional code of conduct improve the likelihood of their future success as EMS professionals. Lifelong, professional EMS habits and skills developed now will most likely be recognized and appreciated by prospective EMS or other clinical employers. Code of conduct elements are explained below to assist Students in understanding their purpose and value to the Emergency Medical Services System and Profession. Students of the TSC EMS Program are expected to conduct themselves in a manner consistent with this code of conduct whenever they represent the TSC EMS Program, or any agency that they may be employed with or volunteer for.

- 1. The primary purpose of Emergency Medical Services is to respond to persons in need of medical, psychological and, in some cases, social assistance in a compassionate, medically appropriate manner. EMS is primarily about providing a public service. EMS providers are often invited into the homes of strangers in anticipation of compassionate, appropriate care and safe transportation to appropriate healthcare facilities. Although at times it may seem difficult, EMS providers must not forget the community's expectations of respectful, dignified, compassionate care as well as timely, efficient, clinically appropriate service. EMS Students demonstrate this by their constant willingness, eagerness and desire to assist in all patient care tasks even if the tasks appear menial or inconsequential.
- 2. As an extension of the physician, Paramedics (and EMT's to a certain extent) have a responsibility to respect the physician license under which they are allowed to function. EMS providers render medical care when a physician is not immediately available. This truly is a privilege that must not be taken lightly by the EMS provider. It has been earned through years of professional work by many dedicated physicians, paramedics, EMT's, and EMS educators. The physician and patient entrust the paramedic and EMT to respect this privilege. Thus, the responsible performance of paramedics and EMT's contributes to continued professional growth and clinical advancement of EMS. EMS Students demonstrate their respect for the physician/paramedic (EMT) relationship by following established clinical training guidelines and performing only those procedures that have been authorized by the physician Medical Director.
- 3. Respectful interaction with other members of the healthcare community is vital to quality care of the patient. The EMS provider represents one member of a much larger team of healthcare providers who each play a role in the care of the patient. Since the EMS provider is often the first team member to care for the patient, his/her interaction with other healthcare providers is often crucial. Effective interaction requires the EMS provider to conduct himself/herself in a respectful, courteous and knowledgeable manner. It requires that the EMS provider be attentive to and respectful of the ideas of other healthcare team members. Respectfully disagreeing in the appropriate setting is acceptable. However, the patient's care must never be jeopardized. EMS Students may demonstrate their gratitude for the opportunity to be a part of this team by actively assisting and participating during clinical rotations and classroom learning. The Student



should take advantage of this tremendous opportunity to learn from other members of the healthcare community.

- 4. EMS providers must respect and recognize the value of teamwork and leadership. EMS providers rely on other team (crew) members to assist in accomplishing the task of providing care and service. The EMS provider or Student who fails to utilize effective team listening, communication, and delegation skills will most likely be ineffective. Leadership must not be confused with command. The effective EMS provider and Student will develop and practice skills that convince team members to follow the leader's plan of action.
- 5. The EMS provider must recognize the continuum of education that is characteristic of the science and art of medicine and, therefore, maintain a personal responsibility for his/her never-ending education. Both EMS providers and Students must constantly strive to learn from each and every educational and clinical experience. As the practice of medicine changes, so must the practices of the EMS provider. Students must take advantage of the learning opportunities and resources provided to them. The better the Student's educational and clinical experiences, the better prepared he/she will be to function as an EMS provider.
- 6. As members of the healthcare community, EMS providers are held to an extremely high standard of moral and ethical conduct. Honesty, confidentiality, respect for others, respect for the healthcare profession, a willingness to serve, a willingness to learn, and clinical proficiency are expectations of the EMS employer and, more importantly, the patient and community. EMS Students must conduct themselves in a manner that leaves no question as to their high standards of moral and ethical conduct. The privilege to provide medical care under a physician's license and the consent to provide this care to "strangers" depend entirely on the trust and respect earned by the EMS provider through his/her conduct.

Students who demonstrate conduct or performance that is contrary to this Code of Conduct may be subject to disciplinary action, which may affect their status within the course and with the College. All students must follow the guidelines outlined in the most recent TSC Student handbook, which may be found on TSC Homepage. All Policies are subject to change and students will be given any changes in writing.



Academic and Clinical Dishonesty

For EMS providers, academic and clinical dishonesty violate the standards of moral and ethical conduct established by our profession. More importantly, it violates the trust developed between us and our patients and healthcare professionals. The following illustrate specific acts of academic dishonesty. It is not intended to be all-inclusive.

- 1. Any use of external assistance during an exam unless permitted by the instructor. Examples include:
 - a. Communicating in any way with another Student during the exam
 - b. Copying material from another Student's exam.
 - c. Allowing another Student to copy from your exam.
 - d. Using unauthorized notes, calculators, or other devices.
- 2. Any intentional falsification or invention of data or information in an academic or clinical exercise.
 - a. Inventing, altering, or falsifying data for a patient report
 - b. Submitting materials as your own when someone else completed or created the work.

c. Communicating false, altered, or incomplete information within the course of clinical care and/or clinical documentation.

3. "Plagiarism is the appropriation and subsequent passing off of another's ideas and words as one's own." If a Student intends to use the words or ideas of another, he/she must provide an acknowledgement of the original source using a recognized referencing practice. Any inference that such words or ideas are those of the Student is considered plagiarism. *Cases of Academic Dishonesty may be handled internally by the School or referred to the Dean of Health Professions.

Classroom Conduct

Classroom activities (didactic and laboratory) are an essential part of EMS Program courses. Although EMS instructors strive to establish an informal classroom environment, Students must conduct themselves in a manner that continues to facilitate learning. Students may have fun in the classroom while also learning.

However, Students are expected to:

- 1. Come to class prepared for the scheduled subject or activities,
- 2. Behave in a manner that does not interrupt classroom or laboratory activities. Examples of disruptive behavior include frequent tardiness, leaving early, private conversations during class, and inappropriate or offensive behavior.
- 3. Ensure that cellular telephones, radios and pagers do not disrupt the classroom or laboratory activities. Although TSC prohibits the use of cellular telephones and pagers, the EMS Program recognizes that many of EMS Students are required to maintain these devices for an on call basis. Students are expected to ensure that the activation of these devices does not disrupt classroom, laboratory, or clinical activities.



4. All students are required to have either a laptop, or other alternative electronic device with them for all class periods.

Attendance

Students are encouraged to attend 100% of the scheduled class sessions; otherwise, it is the student's responsibility to acquire any missed information and schedule make-ups, where applicable. A Student may be dropped from the course and EMS Program for excessive absences. Excessive absences are defined as more than three absences from any or all EMSP courses during that semester. Whether an absence will be excused is left up to the discretion of the course instructor. A roster of class attendance will be kept. It is the policy of TSC EMS Program to require Students to attend classes punctually and regularly so that the learning objectives of the course may be accomplished. An absence is assessed each time the Student is not in attendance during a regularly scheduled period of instruction. The assessment does not depend on the cause for the absence, and applies to instructional, laboratory, and clinical/practicum sessions. In each semester, the assessment of absences begins the first day of class. An absence will also be assessed for every three class sessions that the student arrives late. A student is considered late if he or she is not in the classroom at the scheduled start time for a course.

Clinical Attendance

The number of clinical/EMS rotations available to Students are limited and strict enforcement of attendance will be imposed. Failure to comply with any of the course policies will result in the Student being sent home. Your Clinical Coordinator may impose any restrictions or limits he/she deems necessary to ensure fair and adequate availability of clinical/EMS rotations. Students may not leave their assigned areas without the Clinical Coordinator's permission. Any Student who is not in their assigned clinical/EMS site may be sent home or dropped from the course. If you are unable to report to a scheduled clinical/EMS site you must contact the Clinical Coordinator. If the rotation is at an EMS site you are responsible for notifying the EMS provider agency as well.

Patient Reports-are due on the date and time assigned by the Clinical Coordinator. Reports must be done using the format designated by the Clinical Coordinator to be considered correct. No late work will be accepted and will reflect negatively on your grade. Some additional EMS clinical hours may be necessary to complete all of the EMS reports necessary to pass the course. You may not schedule your own rotations and must adhere to the schedule assigned by the Clinical Coordinator. No clinical rotations may be done while at work. All clinical rotations must be done as third rider in the patient compartment. Students are prohibited from driving the ambulance.

Any questions or problems regarding your clinical rotations should be addressed to the Clinical Coordinator or refer to The TSC EMS Clinical Handbook. As a reminder, patient records are always confidential and no names should be used. Do not document addresses or any patient



information that can be used to identify a specific patient. Do not carry any legible patient information away from a clinical site with you. Patients are always to be listed as John or Jane Doe on student patient care reports.

Academic Assistance

The EMS Program faculty and staff believe strongly in their responsibility to provide an environment in which Students may succeed. Faculty and staff members will gladly provide additional instruction/tutoring upon request. Please let your instructor know if you feel overwhelmed or if you are falling behind so that assistance may be offered to you. The earlier in the semester that you make this request, the more likely that you will be successful.

Communicating With Instructors

Students having course questions or concerns are requested to address them to the primary instructor for the course. If the Student feels he/she has received an inadequate response, the Student should then address the question or concern to the EMS Program Director. If this does not resolve the Student's concern, he/she should contact the Dean of Health Professions. Questions or concerns regarding clinical rotations MUST FIRST be addressed to the Clinical Coordinator.

If you have an important message to give to the EMS Program faculty or staff, verbal communication may not be sufficient. Students may be advised by the faculty or staff to write a detailed and dated memo or email to the instructor. The Student may wish to have 2 copies. If desired, the instructor or staff member will sign both copies so that the Student may keep one for his/her records. Although this is infrequently required, it can prevent incidents of miscommunication.

All program related email will be through your TSC Student email address. You are expected to access your email at least daily as all announcements regarding class and clinical are sent to you through email.

All program related email will be exchanged through your TSC Student email address. Do not ask TSC EMS Program faculty or staff to send any course or school related documents to your personal email address. If you email TSC EMS staff from a non-TSC student email address, do not expect a response back as these emails may be filtered into the "junk" or "spam" mail boxes.

You are expected to access your email at least daily as all announcements regarding class and clinical are sent to you through email. This may include location changes, homework assignments, extra credit, etc...

Profession Ethics/Confidentiality

Students must remember at all times that the information in a practicum area is confidential. **Students shall not tell patients, parents, friends, relatives, or non-hospital/agency employees**



any results of examinations or the nature of any illness. The Physician gives this information to the patient only. Failure to comply with the above rule will result in a disciplinary action to be decided by the EMS Program Director, faculty, and clinical instructor. It is vital that the student complies with the code of ethics for the Emergency Medical Science profession as developed by the National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians (http://www.naemt.org/about_us/emtoath.aspx).

Disciplinary Action

Students who show evidence of poor attitude, inappropriate conduct, unwillingness to participate in class or patient care activities, or who demonstrate a lack of respect for clinical affiliate organizations may be subject to dismissal from the EMS Program. Students may be barred from hospital and/or ambulance clinical rotations. This, of course, would make it impossible for the Student to successfully complete the course.

The following actions will result in disciplinary action:

- 1. Excessive absences or tardiness
- 2. Failure to adhere to the EMS program's uniform policy
- 3. Violation of any hospital, clinical affiliate or TSC policy
- 4. Attitude problem causing distraction to others or contrary to the Code of Conduct
- 5. Unsatisfactory affective behavior evaluations

The Student will be immediately dismissed from the EMS Program for:

- 1. Drinking alcohol or being intoxicated while on "duty" (e.g. during a clinical rotation, class, or lab)
- 2. Use of mind-altering drugs (prescription or non-prescription) or substances while on "duty" (e.g. during a clinical rotation, class, or lab)
- 3. Willful damage of hospital, clinical affiliate, TSC or EMS property
- 4. Conviction of a felony during the program
- 5. Divulging confidential information
- 6. Sexual harassment or assault, which may include obscene jokes/gestures or inappropriate touching
- 7. Frequent disruption of class or lab instruction

Grievance Procedure

Students having a grievance concerning an evaluation, instruction or dismissal from the program must first discuss the matter with the course's primary instructor. If you are not satisfied with the response of the instructor, you should contact the EMS Program Director. Additional appeals should follow the TSC complaint/grievance procedures as described in the TSC Student Handbook (The most up-to-date student handbook may be found here http://tsc.edu/index.php/current-students/student-handbook.html).

Student Conferences

Course Instructors are encouraged to schedule a mid-term and/or final Student conference with each Student. The primary objectives of the conference are to:



- 1. Instructor
 - a. Provide an overall evaluation of the Student's classroom and clinical performance,
 - b. Provide the Student with specific performance improvement recommendations,
 - c. Address Student concerns
- 2. Student
 - a. Discuss the overall evaluation of classroom and clinical performance,
 - b. Discuss methods of performance improvement and develop a plan for improvement (if necessary),
 - c. Communicate course performance concerns to the instructor.

Students are encouraged to request a meeting with the course instructor to discuss performance concerns and course questions regardless of the mid-term or final Student conferences. The EMS program staff welcomes the Student's sincere interest in his/her course performance and will gladly assist the Student with these issues.

Student Status

EMS Program staff may at any time summarily relieve the Student of any specific assignment or request the Student to leave an assigned area for any reason deemed related to the quality of patient care OR to the safety of TSC and/or clinical affiliate staff. Students must not represent themselves as employees or representatives of the clinical affiliate. Instead, Students should always clearly identify themselves as an "EMS Student" or "Paramedic Student" of TSC. Students will NOT be considered employees of the clinical affiliate for purposes of compensation or benefits. Students must obtain prior written permission from the clinical affiliate before publishing (e.g. publication outside of a classroom assignment) any material relating to the clinical experience.

Liability Insurance

All students in the Emergency Medical Science program are required to have professional liability insurance. This insurance is provided on a group basis and the cost for the professional liability insurance is included in the fees paid in which a practicum course is required.

Grievance Policy

The intention of the student grievance policy procedure at TSC is to assure the aggrieved student of due process in the disposition of the grievance or complaint. While the procedure will not guarantee the student that the result will be totally satisfactory, the college intends for the procedure to provide sufficient options for resolution of the matter. The procedure for filing a grievance can be found in the official TSC Student handbook (The most up-to-date student handbook may be found here http://tsc.edu/index.php/current-students/studenthandbook.html).



Probation Policy

Probation periods may be required of the Emergency Medical Science Program student. Probation is a trial period in which the student must improve or be withdrawn from the program. At the discretion of the Emergency Medical Science Program Director, a student may be placed on probation in the Emergency Medical Science Program for any of the following:

- 1. Unsatisfactory performance in the classroom, laboratory and/or practicum
- 2. Unsatisfactory classroom lab and/or practicum attendance and punctuality
- 3. Inability to maintain physical and mental health necessary to function in the program.

EMS Student Classroom/Lab

Emergency Medical Science Program Lecture and Lab courses are taught at the TSC ITEC campus. The classroom is located in room H140. Specific times are published in the TSC course schedules.

Laboratory and Tutoring

Students may utilize the Emergency Medical Science classroom/lab to practice Emergency Medical Science procedures. A student can do this by scheduling time with faculty or the Program Director because lab use is <u>ONLY</u> allowed in the presence of a faculty member. Students <u>ARE NOT</u> to use the labs unless a faculty member is on the premises. Students may request tutoring services.

Immunizations and Vaccinations:

The Texas Department of Health Has announced changes in immunization requirements for students enrolled in Health-Related Institutions of Higher Education effective April 1, 2004. All students enrolled in health-related courses, which involve direct patient contact in medical facilities must show proof of following immunizations prior to the start of direct patient care or show serologic confirmation of immunity to:

- Measles, Mumps, Rubella (MMR)
- > Tetanus-diphtheria toxoid (DT) within last 10 years
- Complete series of Hepatitis B
- Varicella (Chickenpox)
- > TB (required yearly) Chest X-ray (required every two years)

Infection Control:

Students are required to comply with the infection control policies of the clinical site. At a minimum, Students should:



- Wash their hands before and after contact with patients and patient care equipment
- Wear gloves when contact with blood, body fluid, tissue, or contaminated surfaces is anticipated
- Wear gowns or aprons when spattering of blood or other potentially infectious material is likely
- Wear masks and eye protection when aerosolization or splattering of any body fluid is likely to occur
- Clean all blood spills promptly with an appropriate disinfectant or germicidal agent
- Consider all blood specimens as potentially infectious
- Locate protective mouthpieces and/or bag valve masks at the beginning of the clinical rotation

Accidental needle sticks, mucosal splashes, contamination of open wounds, and other possible infection control accidents must be immediately reported to the preceptor and appropriate clinical site staff. This should be done only AFTER taking appropriate necessary decontamination and medical care actions (e.g. washing the exposure, flushing the eyes, etc.). Additional procedures required by the clinical site must also be followed.

INFECTIOUS DISEASE EXPOSURE POLICY

If an EMS student suffers a known or suspected exposure to an infectious disease during clinical rotations he/she should advise the supervisor of the clinical area in which the rotation is being done. Sections 6 and 7 of this policy should be followed. The **TSC EMS Clinical Coordinator** should be notified as soon as possible. The care and compensation of infected students is the financial responsibility of that person and his/her insurance. **The EMS Training Program** is not able to offer financial compensation or to absorb the cost of medical treatment for infected students.

Definitions: Of the several definitions included in this policy, the following are considered unique.

a. "Exposure-prone procedure" means a specific invasive procedure that poses a direct and significant risk of transmission of HIV or Hepatitis B virus, as designated by the EMS Training Program. Recognizing that determining whether a specific invasive procedure is exposure prone requires case-by-case consideration of individual infected health care workers, The EMS Program designates all invasive procedures as exposure prone until the expert review panel has determined otherwise. Accordingly, the term "invasive procedure", as used in this policy shall mean "exposure-prone procedure."



- b. "<u>Expert Review panel</u>" means a panel convened to provide counsel to a health care worker infected with the HIV or Hepatitis B virus regarding the performance of invasive procedures.
- c. "<u>Universal Precautions</u>" means procedures for disinfection and sterilization of reusable medical devices and the appropriate use of infection control, including hand washing, the use of protective barriers, and the use and disposal of needles and other sharp instruments as those procedures are defined by the Centers for Disease Control of the United States Public Health Services.
- 1. Risk and Obligation:
 - a. The functions of the TSC EMS Training Program entail an unavoidable risk of exposure to infectious disease among everyone.
 - b. No person may refuse to care for a patient infected with HIV, Hepatitis B virus, or any other infectious disease solely because of fear of infection.
- 2. General Policy: It shall generally be the policy of **The TSC EMS Training Program** to adopt the most current regulations, guidelines, and recommendations available from recognized authorities.
- 3. Policy Education: **The TSC EMS Training Program** shall regularly provide instruction to all students about personal safety and hygiene measures to reduce risk of infection either from or to other persons in the facility.

5. Pre-exposure immunization and monitoring: **The TSC EMS Training Program** shall require proof or certification of appropriate immunity from selected diseases for all students.

Advanced EMS students are required to have the following immunizations:

- Tetanus-diphtheria (within 10 years of initial enrollment)
- Oral trivalent polio (at any time in the past)
- Measles-Mumps-Rubella (since 1980 if born after January 1, 1957)
- Hepatitis B

All EMS students are required to document a tuberculosis test by the ppd method within one year prior to the date of initial enrollment.

Students who may perform invasive procedures should know their HIV antibody and Hepatitis B antibody or antigen status.

6. Exposure Reporting: Students who have a known or suspected exposure to an infectious disease during the performance of their academic responsibilities shall report the incident promptly to their immediate supervisor in the clinical area and to the EMS Clinical Coordinator.



They will provide a written statement of the date and circumstances of the exposure to the EMS Clinical Coordinator.

7. Post-exposure Prophylaxis and Counseling: If exposure to an infectious disease is known or reasonably suspected to have occurred during the performance of academic or employment responsibilities at **The TSC EMS Training Program**, the individual will incur all cost. In accordance with TDSHS and the Centers for Disease Control Recommendations, this shall include: measles, rubella, mumps, tetanus, diphtheria, poliomyelitis, hepatitis A, hepatitis B, meningococcal disease, tuberculosis, and HIV.

8. Post-exposure Surveillance and Counseling: If exposure to an infectious disease is known or reasonably suspected to have occurred during the performance of academic or employment responsibilities at **The TSC EMS Training Program**, it will be the responsibility of the individual to continue surveillance and counseling. In accordance with the Guidelines of TDSHS and Centers for Disease Control surveillance shall include: rubella for pregnant women, tuberculosis, HIV, syphilis, and hepatitis.

9. Infection Compensation and Care: The care and compensation of infected students is the financial responsibility of that person and his/her insurance. **The TSC EMS Training Program** is not able to offer financial compensation or to absorb the cost of medical treatment for infected students.

10. Isolation of Infected or At-Risk Students:

- a. Students of The TSC EMS Training Program who are infected with a disease shall not perform any activities that involve a known, demonstrated risk of infection. In general, exclusion from specific activities because of infection with or exposure to any disease shall be made on a case-by-case basis by The TSC EMS Training Program Medical Director. Persons who test positive for the HIV antibody or the Hepatitis B antibody or antigen shall not perform an invasive procedure unless the person has sought counsel from The TSC EMS Training Program Medical Director and has been advised under what circumstances (if any) the person may continue to perform the invasive procedure. If the person must notify a prospective patient of the person's positive status for the HIV antibody or the hepatitis antibody or antigen and obtain the patient's consent.
- b. The TSC EMS Training Program Medical Director panel and any other consultants shall protect the confidentiality and privacy rights of the infected person. The decision about notification or follow-up studies of patients who may have been exposed to any infectious disease by personnel or students shall be made by The TSC EMS Training Program Medical Director on a case-by-case basis in consultation with state and local public health officials.

11. Alternate Responsibilities and Duties: Students who are infected or at risk of infection from diseases covered by this policy, are otherwise well, and who are excluded from engaging in



certain activities which incur risk to exposure to infectious diseases, may be offered alternative responsibilities and duties.

12. Confidentiality: All information acquired pursuant to this policy regarding any aspect of the infectious disease status of any person shall be confidential unless disclosure is authorized or required by law.

Section 2: Curriculum

EMS Course Requirements

All EMS courses must be completed successfully before entering the more advanced course(s) the following semester. Due to the structure and chronological order of these classes, if a student should be unsuccessful he/she would be unable to continue in the consecutive courses until the failed course is completed the following year. Under these circumstances, the student will be required to submit an additional application. Re-admission to an EMS course is not guaranteed but offered only on a space available basis.

It is expected that each student will successfully demonstrate competency in the classroom, laboratory and clinical areas. Grading distribution for all EMSP courses will be assigned according to the following scale:

A = 90-100% B = 80-89% C = 75-79% <u>D = 70-74% (Failing, must repeat course)</u> F = 69 or below

* For any EMSP course, a grade of at least a "C" must be earned. Any EMSP course grade of a "D" or lower is not considered passing and must be repeated. A student will not be allowed to test out of a course.

Note: If re-admission is granted, the student will re-enter on a probationary status for at least one semester. At the end of this probationary period, the student will be required to meet with the Emergency Medical Science Program Director and faculty to discuss his/her progress.

Please note that if the student violates stipulations of probation, the student will be dismissed again. If a student fails or is dismissed twice during the program, the student will not be admitted for a third attempt.

<u>High Stakes Exam</u>: Students will be required to successfully pass a Comprehensive Final Exam on either their first or second attempt with a passing score of 68. This exam is administered as a high-stakes "go/no go" exam during EMSP 2243. Any student who is not successful in achieving this score will be required to retake the course.



If a student takes this course at an outside educational institution and cannot show a passing score based on the TSC EMS Program standards, the student will be required to take this exam with TSC and pass it on either of two attempts to be awarded a completion certificate and certified as passing for the NREMT exam.

Dismissal/Withdrawal/Readmission Policy

Dismissal

A student may be dismissed from the program for the following reason:

- 1. Failure to achieve a final cumulative course grade of a 75% or higher in any EMSP course
- 2. Failure to complete clinical competencies during any EMSP course
- 3. Inability to adhere to attendance policy
- 4. Unprofessional appearance or unsafe conduct in the clinical area, including but not limited to unsafe clinical performance (refer to "Criteria for Unsafe Clinical Performance)
- 5. Failure to comply with rules and regulations of the Program, TSC, or any affiliating agency

The final decision for dismissal will be made by the EMS Program Director after consultation with the faculty and the Dean of Health Professions.

Withdrawal

A student who wishes to withdraw from the Program after registration must meet with the EMS Program Director, notify the registrar and the office of the Vice President of Student Services, return all borrowed books and equipment, and clear all accounts. An exit interview will be conducted by the EMS Program Director to assure proper advisement, documentation of student records and plans for readmission as appropriate.

Readmission Policy

Students may be readmitted to the Emergency Medical Science Program **once.** Students who have been dismissed for unsafe clinical practice are not eligible for readmission. Readmission is based on **SPACE AVAILABILITY** and on the student's compliance with conditions/requirements established by the EMS Program Director and Admissions Committee. Requests for readmission are reviewed by the Emergency Medical Science Admissions Committee. Students applying for readmission must:

- 1. Apply, in writing to the Emergency Medical Science Admissions Committee, at least 90 days prior to the semester they wish to reenter.
- 2. Complete all courses in the Emergency Medical Science Program curriculum. If failure does occur, the EMS Program will grant one re-admission, on a space availability basis.



- 3. Reestablish competency in Lab Skills by obtaining a minimum score of 90% per EMS skill procedure simulated. Reestablish didactic comprehension by obtaining a minimum score of 75% per course final taken.
- 4. Demonstrate compliance with recommendations made at the time of withdrawal from the program. Examples of recommendations may include audit or remediation in academic course work; audit or repeat of EMSP course(s) previously taken.

General Academic Courses

BIOL	2301	Human Anatomy & Physiology I
------	------	------------------------------

- BIOL 2302 Human Anatomy & Physiology II
- ENGL 1301 Composition I
- MATH 1332 Contemporary Mathematics
- PSYC 2301 General Psychology
- SPCH 1318 Interpersonal Communication OR
- SPCH 1315 Public Speaking
- XXXX X3XX Language, Philosophy & Culture/ Creative Arts Elective

EMS Course Descriptions

EMSP 1501 Emergency Medical Technician Basics

Course Level: Introductory

Course Description: Preparation for certification as an Emergency Medical Technician (EMT). Prerequisites: Departmental Approval Required. Lec 4, Lab 4, Cr 5.

EMSP 1160 Clinical - Emergency Medical Technology/Technician (EMT Paramedic) I

Course Description: A health-related work-based learning experience that enables the student to apply specialized occupational theory, skills, and concepts. Direct supervision is provided by the clinical professional. Prerequisites: Departmental Approval Required. Clinical 6, Cr 1. Total clinical hours = 96

Total EMT Clinical hours: 96

EMSP 1356 Patient Assessment and Airway Management

Course Level: Intermediate

Course Description: Knowledge and skills required to perform patient assessment, airway management, and artificial ventilation. Prerequisite: EMSP 1501, EMSP 1160. Lec 2, Lab 3, Cr 3.

EMSP 1161 Clinical - Emergency Medical Technology/Technician (EMT Paramedic) II

A health-related work-based learning experience that enables the student to apply specialized occupational theory, skills, and concepts. Direct supervision is provided by the clinical professional. Prerequisite: EMSP 1501, EMSP 1160. Clinical 6, Cr 1. Total Clinical hours = 96

EMSP 1355 Trauma Management

Course Level: Intermediate

Course Description: Knowledge and skills in the assessment and management of patients with traumatic injuries. Prerequisites: EMSP 1501, EMSP 1160. Lec 2, Lab 2, Cr 3.



EMSP 2260 Emergency Medical Technology/Technician (EMT Paramedic) III (10 week course) Course Description: A health-related work-based learning experience that enables the student to apply specialized occupational theory, skills, and concepts. Direct supervision is provided by the clinical professional. Prerequisite: EMSP 1161, EMSP 1356, EMSP 1355. Clinical 12, Cr 2. Total Clinical hours = 112

EMSP 2330 Special Populations (10 week course)

Course Level: Advanced

Course Description: Knowledge and skills necessary to assess and manage ill or injured patients in diverse populations to include neonatology, pediatrics, geriatrics, and other related topics. Prerequisite: EMSP 2261, EMSP 2434, EMSP 2444. Lec 2, Lab 2, Cr 3.

EMSP 2306 Emergency Pharmacology (10 week course)

Course Level: Advanced

Course Description: In this course, the student will complete a study of drug classifications, actions, therapeutic uses, adverse effects, routes of administration, and calculations of dosages. Prerequisite: EMSP 1161, EMSP 1356, EMSP 1355. Lec 3, Cr 3.

EMSP 2261 Clinical - Emergency Medical Technician IV

Course Description: A health-related work-based learning experience that enables the student to apply specialized occupational theory, skills, and concepts. Direct supervision is provided by the clinical professional. Prerequisites: EMSP 2360, EMSP 2338, EMSP 2348. Clinical 12, Cr 2Total Clinical hours = 192

EMSP 2434 Medical Emergencies

Course Level: Advanced

Course Description: Knowledge and skills in the assessment and management of patients with medical emergencies, including medical overview, neurology, gastroenterology, immunology, pulmonology, urology, hematology, endocrinology, toxicology, and other related topics. Prerequisite: EMSP 2260, EMSP 2338, EMSP 2348. Lec 3, Lab 2, Cr 4.

EMSP 2444 Cardiology

Course Level: Advanced

Course Description: Assessment and management of patients with cardiac emergencies. Includes single and multi-lead ECG interpretation. Prerequisites: EMSP 2260, EMSP 2338, EMSP 2348. Lec 3, Lab 2, Cr 4.

EMSP 2243 Assessment Based Management

Course Level: Advanced

Course Description: A capstone experience covering comprehensive, assessment based patient care management. Includes specific care when dealing with pediatric, adult, geriatric, and special-needs patients. Prerequisite: EMSP 2261, EMSP 2434, EMSP 2444. Lec 1, Lab 2, Cr 2.

EMSP 2305 EMS Operations

Course Level: Intermediate

Course Description: In this course, the student will demonstrate knowledge and skills to safely manage multi-casualty incidents and rescue situations; utilize air medical resources; identify hazardous materials and other specialized incidents. Prerequisite: EMSP 1161, EMSP 1356, EMSP 1355. Lec 2, Lab 2, Cr 3.



EMSP 2360 Clinical - Emergency Medical Technician V

Course Description: A health-related work-based learning experience that enables the student to apply specialized occupational theory, skills , and concepts. Direct supervision is provided by the clinical professional. Prerequisite: EMSP 2261, EMSP 2434, EMSP 2444. Clinical 14, Cr 3.. Total Clinical hours = 224

Total Paramedic Clinical hours: 624

Course Substitution

Course substitutions for supportive requirements may be carried out only if the course to be substituted is equal or superior in content to the course that is required by the Emergency Medical Science Program curriculum. Course substitutions are initiated and completed by the EMS Program Director.

Transfer Policy

PURPOSE:

To provide a mechanism, in which students from other Emergency Medical Science programs may enter the TSC Emergency Medical Science program at an appropriate level.

POLICY:

A student from a Texas Department of State Health Services (TX DSHS)or National Registry of EMT's (NREMT) recognized Emergency Medical Science/ Emergency Medical Technician or Paramedic program may receive transfer credit and enter the TSC EMS program at the appropriate level. A student from a program that does not meet the above mentioned recognition Emergency Medical Science/ Emergency Medical Technician or Paramedic will need to complete written and skills test(s) to assess laboratory skill competencies and knowledge of content area(s) before entering into the EMS Program. These written and skills exams must be requested in writing with the EMS Program Director and will be scheduled to meet the EMS Program Director and Faculty availability.

GUIDELINES:

- 1. The transfer student must meet all general requirements for the Associate in Applied Science Degree, as outlined in the TSC catalog.
- 2. The office of admissions evaluates all student transcripts and will apply appropriate credit.
- 3. Any previous EMSP course will be evaluated by the EMS Program Director to determine the nature, content and level of the course. A student may receive full or partial credit for a course they have completed; a written and skill test(s) to assess laboratory skill competencies and knowledge of content area(s) may be required.



Transfer of Credit from other Non-Accredited Institutions

Previous course work satisfactorily completed at accredited institutions will be evaluated for transfer and may be applied toward a degree program at Texas Southmost College.

Upon the student's request, a transcript will be evaluated after a student has registered for TSC credit classes. The request should be made through a counselor or department head. An official transcript is required from each college attended. When the evaluation is complete, the number of transferred hours will be recorded on the TSC transcript.

Note: Previous EMSP courses are evaluated by the EMS Program Director to determine content. A student will be required to present a verification exam and laboratory skill competencies if transferring from a program that is not accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Educational Programs as recommended by the Committee on Accreditation of Educational Programs for the EMS Professions.

Students who obtained EMT Certification or Licensure through a program other than the one offered by TSC must present documentation of the content of their EMT courses for evaluation. These students may be required to demonstrate knowledge and skills competency by successfully completing written and/or skill examinations and clinical proficiency evaluations. Leveling work may be prescribed on an individual basis.

Students who received their EMT education outside of a college setting may be eligible to take a competency challenge process through the Texas College system to earn credits for that education in some situations.

The time to evaluate transfer students and students who may require competency testing can be lengthy and may delay entry into the program. Applicants should apply as early as possible.

Failure of EMSP Courses

Students must complete the EMS Program within three years of initial enrollment. If one or more classes are failed the first time, the student may repeat the classes the following year if space is available. If one or more classes are failed a second time, the student must re-take all the classes at that particular certification level (i.e. Basic or Paramedic). If a student has failed a class multiple times, during their last semester, they may elect to retake that class without taking the rest of the classes at that certification level. If the student passes that class, they may be eligible to receive an Associate in Applied Sciences degree; however, a course completion certificate to allow them to sit for the NREMT exam will not be granted.

- * First failed attempt of an EMSP Class: Student will repeat failed class and or/classes.
- * **Second failed attempt** of same EMSP Class: Student will be required to re-take ALL classes at that particular level (i.e. Basic or Paramedic).



If a student does not fail any section, but instead withdraws, they will need to complete the program within three years of their initial enrollment.

Service Learning

Service Learning may be assigned to the students at the discretion of the EMS Program Director and/or as part of the EMS curriculum.

Skills Proficiency Verification

Students will be required to demonstrate competency in all skills listed in the course syllabus prior to successfully completing each course. The Student will learn the indications for each skill and have ample time to practice them. Students will be checked off on each of these skills within the laboratory portion of the course in which the skill is introduced and initially taught. Students experiencing difficulty with a skill and unable to demonstrate proficiency will be offered a remediation session and allowed to try again. Paramedic Students will be responsible for basic skills as well as the advanced skills. The laboratory check off of skills must be successfully completed prior to the Student being allowed to utilize the skill in the clinical setting. Each Student must then demonstrate proficiency in each skill during the clinical rotations. If these demonstrations of proficiency are not successfully accomplished within the required time frames, the Student will be withdrawn from the program.

During paramedic courses, Students may be introduced to additional clinical skills and procedures not included in the lists below. Students will not require skills proficiency verification of these additional skills in order to complete the program. However, Students may be required to practice these skills in the laboratory, and may be allowed to perform these skills under supervision in the clinical rotations. Written and Oral exams may include questions regarding these additional skills. (Examples of additional skills include: 12 Lead ECG acquisition, retrograde intubation, and external cardiac pacing.)

EMT

- Obtain a patient history
- Comprehensive normal adult physical assessment techniques
- Comprehensive normal pediatric physical assessment techniques
- Trauma Assessment
- Trauma adult physical assessment
- Spinal immobilization adult (supine patient)
- Spinal immobilization adult (seated patient)
- Joint splinting
- Long bone splinting
- Traction splinting
- Hemorrhage control
- Glucometer



- Normal delivery with newborn care
- Abnormal delivery with newborn care
- Vital Signs

EMT psychomotor examination-

These skills will be tested based on the National Registry of EMT's EMT psychomotor exam. The student will receive the testing sheets throughout the course. The final skills evaluation will be completed as a "Final Practical Skills test" during the last week of the semester.

- Medical Assessment
- BVM Ventilation
- Oxygen Administration
- Spinal Immobilization Seated
- Spinal Immobilization Supine
- Bleeding Control/Shock Management
- Cardiac Arrrest Management/AED
- Joint Immobilization
- Long Bone Immobilization

Paramedic

- All Skills from Previous Semesters to include:
- Obtain a patient history
- Comprehensive normal adult physical assessment techniques
- Comprehensive normal pediatric physical assessment techniques
- Direct orotracheal intubation- Adult
- Direct orotracheal intubation- Pediatric
- Nasotracheal intubation
- Supraglottic airway device- Adult
- Needle cricothyrotomy (percutaneous translaryngeal ventilation)
- CPAP and PEEP
- Trauma adult physical assessment
- Trauma endotracheal intubation adult
- Pleural decompression (needle thoracostomy)
- Spinal immobilization adult (supine patient)
- Spinal immobilization adult (seated patient)
- Joint splinting
- Long bone splinting
- Traction splinting
- Hemorrhage control
- Medical and cardiac physical assessment
- Intravenous therapy
- Intravenous bolus medication administration
- Intravenous piggyback infusion
- Intraosseous infusion



- Intramuscular and subcutaneous medication administration
- Intranasal medication administration
- Inhaled medication administration
- Glucometer
- 12-lead ECG
- Synchronized cardioversion
- Defibrillation (unwitnessed arrest)
- Transcutaneous pacing
- Normal delivery with newborn care
- Abnormal delivery with newborn care

Paramedic National Registry Psychomotor Examination

Every effort will be made to host the National Regirty Paramedic Psychomtor exam at TSC before or very near the final day of EMSP 2243. The examination will include 6 stations and the students will receive adequate practice on these skills prior to the exam.

- Trauma Assessment and Managament
- Dynamic Cardiology
- Static Cardiology
- Oral station (x2) (this is a verbal exchange related to the two separate scnearios)
- Integrated Out of Hospital Scenario



Medications:

Students will be expected to know the trade and generic name, indications, contraindications, expected side-effects, common dosing (for prehospital use), how the medication is commonly packaged. Additional information may be required during the Pharmacology portion of the program of study.

65. Norepinephrine bitartrate66. Ondansetron hydrochloride

67. Oral glucose68. Oxygen69. Oxytocin

70. Pancuronium bromide

 Phenobarbital
Phenytoin
Pralidoxime
Procainamide hydrochloride
Promethazine hydrochloride
Proparacaine
Propofol
Propranolol

hydrochloride 79. Rocuronium bromide 80. Sodium bicarbonate

 81. Sodium nitrate
82. Sodium thiosulfate
83. Streptokinase
84. Succinylcholine chloride
85. Tadalafil
86. Temazepam

87. Terbutaline sulfate88. Tetracaine, opthalmic

hydrochloride 91. Valproic acid 92. Vasopressin 93. Verapamil

hydrochloride

89. Thiamine 90. Tirofiban

rogram of study.	
1. Acetylcysteine	35. Heparin sodium
2. Activated charcoal	36. Hydrocortisone sodium
3. Adenosine	succinate
4. Albuterol	37. Hydroxocobalamin
5. Alteplase,	38. Hydroxyzine
recombinant	39. Insulin
6. Amiodarone	40. Ipecac syrup
7. Amyl nitrite	41. Ipratropium
8. Aspirin	42. Isoetharine
9. Atenolol	43. Ketamine
10. Atropine sulfate	44. Ketorolac
11. Benzocaine spray	tromethamine
12. Bumetanide	45. Labetalol
13. Calcium chloride	46. Levalbuterol
14. Calcium gluconate 15. Clopidogrel	47. Lidocaine hydrochloride
16. Dexamethasone	48. Lithium
sodium phosphate	49. Lorazepam
17. Dextrose	50. Loxapine
18. Diazepam	51. Magnesium sulfate
19. Digoxin	52. Mannitol
20. Diltiazem	53. Meperidine
21. Diphenhydramine	hydrochloride
22. Dobutamine	54. Metaproterenol sulfate
hydrochloride	55. Methylprednisolone
23. Dolasetron	sodium succinate
24. Dopamine	56. Metoprolol tartrate
hydrochloride	57. Midazolam
25. Epinephrine	hydrochloride
26. Epinephrine racemic	58. Morphine sulfate
27. Eptifibatide	59. Nalbuphine
28. Etomidate	hydrochloride
29. Fentanyl citrate	60. Naloxone hydrochloride
30. Flumazenil	61. Nifedipine
31. Fosphenytoin	62. Nitroglycerin
32. Furosemide	
33. Glucagon	63. Nitropaste
34. Haloperidol lactate	64. Nitrous oxide 50:50



Course Policies and Procedures

Please read these policies and procedures very carefully. Each Student is required to sign a Student contract attesting to his/her agreement with these. The EMS Program Faculty and staff strongly believe that the Student will be most successful if he/she completely understands these policies and procedures. Should a Student have any questions or concerns regarding a course policy, he/she should discuss them with the course's faculty instructor.

Rights and Responsibilities

It is our hope that this course will be rewarding and enjoyable. As a Student, you are investing a great deal of time and money into this course. Therefore, the EMS Program staff will work with you in any way possible to see that your investment is worthwhile. However, much of what you will get from this course will depend on what you put into it. In order to ensure the best possible learning experience for you, each Student is assured the following rights. Of course, with these rights come additional responsibilities.

You have the right to know:

- 1. That this course is officially approved by the Texas Department of State Health Services.
- 2. That the Program Director, instructors and examiners are certified by the Texas Department of State Health Services.
- 3. How grades for this course will be determined.
- 4. The course objectives.
- 5. The established policies and guidelines upon which you are expected to base your conduct.

Just as you have certain rights, you also have certain responsibilities. You are obligated to:

- 1. Treat all patients with dignity and respect.
- 2. Be at least 18 years of age in order to obtain certification by the Texas Department of Health.
- 3. Conduct yourself at all times in a manner, which is conducive to learning.
- 4. Abide by the program policies as outlined to you by the course faculty and staff including all TSC policies.
- 5. Actively participate in all class and skills laboratory functions.
- 6. Complete all courses in a satisfactory manner as outlined in this Handbook.
- 7. Exhibit a professional manner in both attire and conduct.
- 8. Hold in confidence information relating to any and all patients.
- 9. Accept responsibility for your actions and academic performance.



<u>Section 3: Resources</u> Counseling Services

TSC is staffed with counselors to provide assistance to students. For more information call or visit the Counseling Center.

The Counseling Center provides a variety of services to all students pursuing academic or vocational/technical programs of study. The Center offers both group and individualized programs to help students deal with academic, career, and personal concerns. All information relating to the counseling services is discreet and confidential.

Advising

The EMS Program Director will be the advisor for each student upon admission to provide information about the academic program and to assist in making informed decisions. The EMS Program Director may be consulted during pre-registration, for adding/dropping a course and withdrawing from the Emergency Medical Science Program. All advising sessions will be documented.

Disability Services

Texas Southmost College would like to help students with disabilities achieve their highest potential in college. Students with disabilities may request assistance through the Student Services Center. Some of the services available include note-taking, audio recorded textbook, registration assistance, diagnostic testing, special test considerations and sign language interpreting. An Adaptive Technology and Testing Service is available for student use. All services are elective and must be requested by the students.

To request services, students must register with an advisor in the Student Counseling Center. It is advisable to make this contact well before or immediately after the semester begins. Proof of disability is required (individual documentation requirements vary depending on the disability). Students bear the responsibility of making their abilities and limitations known to the advisor. Together, the student and the advisor will decide on the appropriate accommodations and decide on a course of action for informing the instructor, if necessary. Students must request services each semester, as needed.

Student Financial Aid Services

TSC provides financial aid to assist students. The financial assistance for eligible students is available in the form of grants, loans, college work-study, veterans' benefits, and scholarships. The college catalog contains the financial resources available.



Library Facility

The Arnulfo L. Oliveira Memorial Library provides information and access to materials needed to fulfill the teaching, scholarship, and service goals of the university. Students enrolled in the Emergency Medical Science Program have access to library cards.

These libraries have books covering the fields of Emergency Medicine, diagnostic imaging, surgery, nursing, hospitals, public health, and other related allied health sciences. The library offers outstanding computerized searching in all subject fields through more than 50 subscription databases, selected Internet sites, newspapers and journals.

The library also has a Circulation Department, a Reference Department with a computer lab, a Technical Service Department, and Interlibrary Loan Department, The Hunter Room for archival and genealogical research, study rooms, study areas and carrels, and copying machines to accommodate students.

Learning Assistance Center

TSC has Learning Assistance located in the Student Services Center that serves as an academic resource for students. In a proactive manner, it responds to the needs of the population it serves and is committed to helping the general student population succeed in a college environment. Learning specialists and peer tutors assist students in many areas of study with emphasis on Reading, Writing, Mathematics, Language acquisition, test-taking and study skills.

Professional Organizations

As a healthcare provider, you may find value in joining professional organizations. Many of these organizations act to unify many voices for the purpose of advocating for improvement within the industry.

The National Association of EMT's: http://www.naemt.org/

The mission of the National Association of Emergency Medical Technicians is to represent and serve Emergency Medical Services personnel through advocacy, educational programs and research. (You will be able to find more organizations on-line which you may choose to join).

Association of Texas EMS Professionals https://www.facebook.com/ATEMSP

Mission

To advocate for and serve the Texas EMS professional by providing tangible member benefits, legislative representation, professional networking and educational advancement.





Texas Southmost College

80 Fort Brown • Brownsville, Texas 78520 • (956) 295-3511 • www.tsc.edu

Texas Southmost College

EMS Program

Curriculum Review Attestation

The undersigned have reviewed the TSC EMS Program curriculum and agree that the content meets the National Standard Curriculum as well as the needs of the students and stakeholders.

The curriculum is reviewed annually, or as the curriculum changes, by the EMS Program Director, Medical Director, and Advanced Coordinator(s). A copy of the attestation is available in every course file and an image of the most current attestation is included in the EMS Program Student Handbook.

A

Scott Nelson, B.S., NRP, LP TSC EMS Program Director

Kme

Lorenzo Pelly, MD TSC EMS Medical Director

Gilbert Alcala, A.S., LP, EMS-C TSC EMS Advanced Coordinator

August 1, 2016